CONTINENTAL MOTORS

By Tom Carlson


Continental Motors had its beginning in Chicago when engineer Ross Judson (in partnership with brother-in-law Arthur Tobin) built a two-cylinder engine for the 1903 auto show.  The engine, patterned after a Mercedes design, produced a favorable response at the show and a flood of orders followed.  At first the business was called Autocar, but to avoid conflict with a similarly named plant in Pennsylvania the name was changed.  The word “Continental” was chosen because it suggested European quality.


Continental Motors was brought to Muskegon in 1905.  Muskegon at that time was still trying to recover from the demise of the lumber business and had instituted a bonus program to lure promising new industries.  A two-story plant was constructed on Water Street near Pine, with 16,000 square feet of space.  One of the first major customers was Studebaker, which placed an order for 100 engines in 1906.  A year later production was up to 1000 units.  The plant at first employed about 25.


In 1911 large automaker Hudson placed an order for 10,000 engines.  As a result Continental built a larger plant in Detroit, to be near Hudson.  Over the years Continental engines would power more than 100 makes of automobiles, including some of the most famous such as Stutz, Peerless, Auburn, Reo, Willys, Star and Kaiser-Frazier.  Most of the auto engines would be produced in Detroit, while the Muskegon operations concentrated more on bus and truck motors and industrial engines.


During WWI the Muskegon plant became heavily involved in building engines for military vehicles, particularly trucks.  The plant was expanded and employment reached several thousand.


Over the years Continental engines became known for their ruggedness rather than high performance.  The famous Red Seal, which company officials later touted as a sign of reliability, supposedly came about by accident.  The story goes that the production man in charge of painting the company monogram ran out of blue paint and substituted red.


In 1925 the company bought an airplane to provide better communication between its two plants and to transport light freight.  The problem was there was no airfield in Muskegon.  A tract of 160 acres was purchased on high ground at the foot of Getty Street and a hangar built.  Continental Field, as it was called, became Muskegon’s first airport and was dedicated July 1926 before a crowd estimated at 10,000.  

Continental’s experience with its own airplane and airfield caused the company to become interested in making engines for aircraft.  After a few years Continental was producing almost 90% of the nation’s aircraft engines with less than 75 horsepower.  It was also making some larger aircraft engines and developed a relationship with Claude Ryan, whose aircraft company had built Lindbergh’s “Spirit of St. Louis.”

The Great Depression saw the demise of most of the independent automakers and Continental’s business took a huge drop.   In an effort to salvage some of its automobile engine market, Continental took over the bankrupt DeVaux Automobile Company in 1933.  In 1934 it introduced the cars under the Continental name, producing three models:  the Beacon, the Flyer and the Ace.  Though low to medium priced, the cars did not sell because of competition from the big automakers and the poor economy of the times.  Auto production was discontinued after a couple years.

By 1939, Continental was in bad shape.  It had to shut down its Detroit plant and the Muskegon factory employed only 600, down from a total workforce of 6000 in 1928.  The coming of the war helped save Continental.  The year 1939 also saw Clarence “Jack” Reese take over as president.  Reese had come to the company in 1931 as a sales engineer and would restore Continental to its glory years.

By the time the United States entered WWII, Continental was producing the 450 hp radial, air-cooled engine used in tanks, landing craft and other military vehicles.  Aircraft engines were also being made, most notably the R-1340 used in trainers.  In 1942 the government built the 800,000 square foot Getty Street plant so all aircraft engine production could be concentrated in Muskegon.  Wartime residents of East Muskegon soon became used to the roar of engines being tested 24 hours a day.  Employment rose to 10,000, with 6500 at the downtown plant and 3500 working on “the Hill,” as the Getty Street plant was sometimes called.  In 1943 Continental began making Rolls Royce Merlin engines, used in the P-51 Mustang,

After the war Continental would continue as Muskegon’s largest employer, supplying a variety of tank and truck engines for the military.   Continental also helped other area companies such as Campbell, Wyant and Cannon and Lakey Foundry to flourish.  

In the 1960s Continental was sold, first to Ryan Aeronautical of San Diego, and later in the decade by Teledyne.  Gradually various components of the company were shifted to Alabama and Tennessee because of the cheaper benefits and labor rates of those states.  By 1990 only about 500 employees were left, all at the Getty Street plant.

In 1993 all the buildings of the downtown plant were removed and the land was made available for re-development.  

The Getty Street plant remains in business as General Dynamics Land Systems, which purchased the facility from Teledyne in 1994.  A technical center is also located on Seminole Road.

